
1

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees
Tel: 01884 234310

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee
Tuesday, 2 October 2018 at 7.00 pm

A G E N D A

1  Election of Chairman  
To elect a Chairman for 2018/19 (the Terms of Reference state that the 
appointment should be made from the Devon County Council 
representation for 2018/19).

2  Election of Vice Chairman  
To elect a Vice Chairman for 2018/19 (the Terms of Reference state that 
this appointment should come from the Mid Devon District Council 
representation for 2018/19).

3  Apologies  
To receive any apologies for absence.

4  Public Question Time  
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from the public 
and replies thereto.

5  Minutes  (Pages 5 - 10)
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the meeting held on 6 March 2018.

6  Matters Arising  
To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous 
meeting.

7  Chairman's Announcements  
To receive any announcements that the Chairman may wish to make.

8  Cycling UK  
To welcome a representative of Cycling UK and to receive information 
about their organisation.

9  Terms of Reference / Membership Review  (Pages 11 - 14)
To consider the Terms of Reference and membership of the Committee 
(please find attached). Please note the following:

a) There is currently a vacancy for a Burlescombe PC 
representative due to recent changes on the Parish Council. 
However, the Parish Council have requested that until the 

Public Document Pack

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


2

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees
Tel: 01884 234310

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

membership of Burlescombe Parish Council stabilises, Mr Adam 
Pilgrim represent them in addition to Holcombe Rogus Parish 
Council. The JAC are therefore asked to approve this temporary 
appointment.

b) Since the removal of Sustrans as a representative (as per the 
committees request) there is a need to consider representation 
from an alternative cycling organisation.

10  Progress report  (Pages 15 - 26)
To receive a report from the Public Rights of Way and Country Parks 
Manager (DCC) informing Members of the work that has taken place to 
date.

11  Dangerous incidents on the canal  
To discuss ‘dangerous incidents on the canal’ involving cyclists. 
Discussion to include consideration of the design and location of 
warning signs.

12  Installation and collection of litter bins  
At the request of Councillor Lance Kennedy, discussion to take place 
regarding the installation and location of litter bins.

13  Enhancement of tourism opportunities as a connected package  
At the request of Councillor Lance Kennedy, discussion to take place 
regarding the enhancement of tourism opportunities as a connected 
package.

14  Any other business  
To consider any other relevant business.

15  Identification of items for the next meeting  
To identify any issues for discussion at the next meeting.

16  Date of next meeting  
To agree the date of the next meeting as Tuesday 5th March 2019 at 
7.00pm in the Exe Room, Phoenix House.

Monday 24 September 2018

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not 
to do so, as directed by the Chairman. Any filming must be done as 
unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting 
and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who 
may not wish to be filmed. As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


3

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees
Tel: 01884 234310

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

proceedings is asked to advise the Chairman or the Member Services Officer in 
attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening. 

Members of the public may also use other forms of social media to report on 
proceedings at this meeting.

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting and listen to 
discussion. Lift access to the first floor of the building is available from the main 
ground floor entrance. Toilet facilities, with wheelchair access, are also 
available. There is time set aside at the beginning of the meeting to allow the 
public to ask questions.

An induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone wearing a hearing aid 
or using a transmitter. If you require any further information, or if you would like 
a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large print) please 
contact Sarah Lees on:

Tel: 01884 234310
E-Mail: slees@middevon.gov.uk

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 10

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of a MEETING of the GRAND WESTERN CANAL JOINT ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE held on 6 March 2018 at 7.00 pm

Present:
Cllr R F Radford Mid Devon District Council
Cllr C R Slade Devon County Council
Cllr Mrs C A Collis Mid Devon District Council
Cllr C J Eginton Mid Devon District Council
Cllr K Browse Halberton Parish Council
Cllr L Neville Burlescombe Parish Council
Mrs P Brind Mid Devon Moorings
Mr P Brind The Tiverton Canal Company
Mr R Hodgson Friends of the Grand Western Canal
Mr D Howells Community Patrol Boat
Mr G Moore Canal Business Group
Mr A Pilgrim Holcombe Rogus Parish Council
Miss Jean Hall Inland Waterways Association
Mr P Saupe Tiverton Unit Sea Cadets Corps
Mr M Trump Tiverton and District Angling Club

Officers:
Mr M Baker Canal Manager, DCC
Mrs R Mills Rights of Way and Country Parks Manager, DCC
Mr A Jarrett Director of Finance, Assets and Resources, MDDC
Mrs S Lees Member Services Officer, MDDC

13 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from the following:

 Councillor Mrs Heather Bainbridge
 Councillor Roger Croad
 Councillor David Cutts
 Councillor Mrs Chris Daw
 Mr Ray Jones
 Councillor Miss Clarissa Slade
 Mr Trevor White
 Councillor Kevin Wilson

14 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

There were no questions from the members of the public present.

15 MINUTES 

The minutes from the meeting held on 3 October 2017, having been previously 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and SIGNED by the Chairman.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 11

16 MATTERS ARISING 

There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman had no announcements to make.

18 AI UPDATE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman provided the following update regarding Aggregate Industries:

After a long series of email exchanges a date had finally been arranged next month 
for a meeting between Aggregate Industries, the Environment Agency (EA) and 
representatives from the JAC. The EA would be represented by Doug Parker, the 
local area officer and hopefully a member of their Exeter permitting team. Marcus 
Francis, the Devon County Council’s hydrological consultant from Jacobs would also 
be attending the meeting. He had recently been tasked with analysing and 
interpreting a rather complex technical report which AI had commissioned from 
AMEC and his presence was seen as being very helpful. It was hoped that one of the 
outcomes of the meeting would be to establish a set of agreed principles and to then 
follow through with the technical practicalities of an improved water transfer system.

It was stated that there had been a lot of snow and rain recently and that whilst at the 
moment there was no need for additional water in the Canal that situation could 
change if there was a dry spring and summer.

On a similar theme the Committee went on to discuss a live planning application to 
extract an additional 600,000 tons of stone from Rockwell Quarry at Westleigh and 
the effect that that might have upon the water levels of the canal. Mr Adam Pilgrim 
had circulated a draft letter of objection to the JAC membership and sought support 
from the rest of the Committee. He explained that there was local concern about the 
increased noise, dust and traffic movement on the two roads being that they were 
very close to Westleigh. It was felt that the water table may be affected by these new 
workings and the local community were upset at the lack of precautionary measures 
and procrastination on the part of the quarry owners.

It was expected that the application would be brought to the Development 
Management Committee at the County Council on 25 April 2018. 

It was AGREED that the draft letter of objection be submitted on behalf of the JAC to 
Devon County Council.

Note: Councillor C R Slade wished for his abstention from this decision to be 
recorded as he was a member of the Development Management Committee at 
Devon County Council.

19 PROGRESS REPORT 

Consideration was given to a report * of the Public Rights of Way and Country Parks 
Manager.

Page 6



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 12

Arising thereon:

Wall moving project

The Canal Manager reported that following the Road safety Audit stage 3 report, the 
possibility of moving the telegraph pole was now being considered. Unfortunately the 
best time to have done this work would have been during the period of the works, the 
cost is now more affordable.

Play area

The ground was currently being left to dry out. Rubber mulch would be laid around 
the boat next week and the official opening would take place on 11 April. 

Canal Basin car park flower bed

The flower bed was currently being redesigned to be a more attractive ‘gateway’ into 
the canal. It had been extended much further down with the parking bays being 
moved over. The wall that was by the gentlemen’s toilet had been replaced and there 
were new litter bins. It was hoped that an agreement could be reached with the Mid 
Devon District Council’s Grounds Maintenance team to maintain this flower bed.

Other works around the Canal Basin

There were plans to replace some picnic benches and to replace a lot of the signs in 
the car park. There would also be new interpretation panels as the existing ones 
were quite out of date. Initial drafts of the new panels were shared with members at 
the meeting. The funding for the majority of these improvements around the Canal 
basin had come from sources other than the Canal budget.

Tree management works

This winter the tree work undertaken by the Canal Ranger Service has been more 
proactive in managing trees for the future as well as dealing with present issues. 
Thinning and formative pruning means that they are well spaced, form a better shape 
and don’t have low overhanging branches. A few trees had had to be felled due to 
suspected ash dieback. One large Ash near Tidcombe Bridge had its crown reduced 
rather than felled due to landscape concerns, but in the future where trees affected 
by this were not so iconic in the landscape, the rangers would have to take the most 
affordable course of action which will usually be to fell them. There was now a Devon 
ash dieback forum and a lot of research was being undertaken in this area.
 
The Canal Manager was thanked for taking this approach as overhanging trees and 
their roots had proved to be a real concern. Whilst agreeing that this work needed to 
be done, he pointed out that there had been some complaints from members of the 
public about the extent of tree works in recent years.

Ivy growth had become prolific on a number of large trees and whilst it did not 
damage healthy trees it could add to the ‘sail effect’ of large trees when it began to 
extend throughout the crown, making them more prone to being blown over in 
storms. Ivy was being severed at ground level when this became the case.

Page 7



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 13

Hedge laying and planting

A lot of work had been undertaken to thicken the hedge and provide better screening 
of the AD plant at Crownhill. There was a possibility that the operators of the AD 
plant would be contributing funding for this work.

420 trees would be provided free by the Woodland Trust due to an application made 
by the Friends of the Grand Western Canal.

Atherton way ditch works

Works were approaching completion. Many tonnes of material had been removed 
and the channel which has since been lined with a cement impregnated material. The 
works will reduce the amount of overtopping during bad weather and reduce the flood 
risk to properties on Atherton Way.

Badgers in Wilcombe embankment

A badger sett with a family of around 5 or 6 badgers had been present in the 
embankment beside Wilcombe Primary School since around 2009. It was imperative 
that they did not burrow through and create a leak in the canal. A line of steel bars 
had been put in in 2011 to try to ease the potential for this to happen. There were 
plans to engage some ecological consultants to provide further advice.

Green Flag Award / Management Plan

The Canal Manager had made good progress on drafting a new management plan 
for the Country Park based around Green Flag Award criteria. His intention was to 
have this completed before the next round of judging took place. JAC members 
would be sent copies of the draft plan for comment.

Management projects to be progressed

A brief discussion took place regarding the redesign of the interpretation panel and 
the historical accuracy of some of the information. The Canal Manager stated that he 
would look into this and make any necessary adjustments.

Fenacre Farm

It was confirmed that the legal issues regarding unauthorised works at Fenacre Farm 
had still to be resolved but if capital monies became available it would be possible to 
move towards something more positive.

Weed management

The Canal Manager was thanked by the representative operating the Community 
Patrol Boat for the work undertaken to remove weed along the canal. The Patrol Boat 
had recently picked up three baskets of rubbish from the Canal. It was felt that the 
dog bins were getting blocked up with general rubbish but Mid Devon District Council 
had refused to provide additional bins.

Page 8



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 14

The Committee wished to thank the Canal Manager and his team for all the work that 
they did and for such an excellent and positive report. They also wished it to be noted 
how good the new design of the entrance to the canal now looked.

20 IMPACT ON THE CANAL OF RECENT PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

This item had been discussed under item 6, ‘AI update from the Chairman’.

21 SUSTRANS MEMBERSHIP 

The Committee had requested at the last meeting that one further attempt be made 
to contact Sustrans in an effort to revive their interest and seek regular 
representation at meetings. A role description had been provided to them so that the 
named representative, who had been unable to attend the previous few meetings 
could seek alternative representation from amongst his colleagues. Hither to no 
response had been received following this latest attempt.

The Committee considered that it was important to encourage leisure cyclists to use 
the canal, for example those families venturing out for a short cycle on a Sunday 
afternoon. Sustainable travel was also important to Devon County Council as a 
policy. However, it was not considered appropriate to encourage sports cyclists as 
this presented a danger to other users.

It was AGREED that Sustrans be written to explaining that they would be removed as 
a member of the Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee with immediate 
effect and that an approach be made to Cycle England to see if they would like to 
attend the next meeting on 2nd October. The Committee would then be able to hear 
from them, ask questions and afterwards decide whether to invite them to join the 
JAC.

22 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

The following items were raised under this item:

Crownhill  Anaerobic Digester

The Chairman confirmed that the liaison group had recently met and the owners had 
been very forthcoming with information regarding traffic movements, monitoring 
outputs etc. Another meeting was due to take place in April 2018.

Dogs in the Canal Basin area

It was reported by two local PCSO’s that recently there had been some dog attacks 
on both dogs and humans and Philip Brind reported that fouling had reached an 
unacceptable level in the picnic area and around the Ducks Ditty. Bylaws in relation 
to this merely stated that ‘dogs needed to be kept under control’. However, the 
Assistant County Solicitor had advised that Devon County Council as the landowner 
could decide to exclude dogs from the new play area and Canal Basin and, in 
accordance with byelaw 23, issue a direction (by notice) to ensure that dogs were 
kept on leads in the picnic area. This could be done by having the signs made up and 
installed without the need to do anything else.

Page 9



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 6 March 2018 15

Discussion took place regarding irresponsible dog ownership and the fact that the 
Canal Basin was becoming more and more a place to relax and have a picnic. If 
signage was provided to state that dogs must be kept on a lead in the Canal Basin 
area then this could be enforced. It was suggested that Mid Devon District Council be 
asked to patrol this area more frequently especially in the mornings once the signage 
had been changed.

It was AGREED that the Canal Manager arrange for the signage to be amended to 
state that all dogs must be kept on a lead in the Canal Basin area.

23 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING 

The following was requested to be on the agenda for the next meeting in additional to 
Canal Manager’s usual progress report:

 Update on the Community Patrol Boat
 Update on the situation with Aggregate Industries

24 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next meeting was confirmed as being Tuesday 2nd October at 7pm.

Members would be contacted in due course with details about the summer site visit.

(The meeting ended at 8.37 pm) CHAIRMAN

Page 10



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee

TERMS OF UNDERSTANDING

Introduction

The Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee (GWCJAC) supports and 
encourages an active partnership between all the bodies involved in and co-
ordinating management across all activities of the Grand Western Canal (GWC).  
The management of the GWC is co-ordinated by the Senior Public Rights of Way 
Officer on behalf of Devon County Council.

The Joint Advisory Committee represents the main mechanism for the co-ordination 
of advice and the collation of local views relating to the management and 
maintenance of the canal.

The aim of the County Council is “to conserve for the future the integrity of the Grand 
Western Canal in its setting as a wildlife, historic, recreation and education resource”.  

The principle functions of the GWCJAC are to:

 Promote and act as champion for the canal;
 Support the aims of the County Council for the GWC which are to:

o Preserve and maintain the canal as a civil engineering asset;
o Develop, conserve and interpret the biodiversity in the surrounding 

area;
o Promote the canal for amongst other things – tourism purposes.

 Provide a forum for discussion and information exchange between the 
different interested parties;

 Provide advice for the County Council on issues of management of the GWC

This will be achieved through providing advice

 To assist the implementation of the Management that supports the County 
Council’s aims for the GWC;

 To inform a review of the Management Plan at appropriate intervals;
 To permit the monitoring of the success and achievement of the GWC Team 

and the use of the Canal;
 To inform the County Council on the impacts of existing or proposed uses of 

the Canal;
 To inform the commissioning of special studies of issues if necessary, utilising 

appropriate forums;
 To inform the local planning authorities about developments which are likely 

to affect significantly the GWC, its environs and landscape character;
 On the likely resources necessary for effective management; 
 on the dissemination of information and by undertaking this through 

appropriate organisations;
 On the accommodation of new requirements due to changes in legislation 

affecting the GWC

It should be noted that the GWCJAC does not have executive powers over the 
funding partners, but acts in an advisory and consultative capacity to the funding 
partners and others as required.

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



TERMS OF UNDERSTANDING

 The GWCJAC will meet twice a year;

 The Chairman and Vice Chairman will be elected annually;

 The position of Chairman and Vice Chairman will rotate between the main 
funding partners of Mid Devon District Council and Devon County Council;

 The secretariat for the GWCJAC will be Mid Devon District Council and the 
Committee will be run under MDDC standing orders;

 The GWCJAC will be considered quorate when eight representatives are 
present of whom 3 should be County or District Councillors with 1 being a 
County Councillor;

 Representatives will be expected to attend all meetings or to send a suitable 
replacement with prior notice;

 If a representative fails to attend two GWCJAC meetings within the year, 
without reasonable cause, then their eligibility to attend any future meetings 
will be terminated with immediate effect;

 Meetings will be open to the press and public with opportunities for the items 
to be brought in by the public for part of the meeting with prior notice;

 Suggested agenda items and questions should be presented 3 weeks before 
any meeting;

 Press and publicity must be channelled through Devon Media Services 
having initially been authorised by the Chairman or Vice Chairman or the 
Senior Public Rights of Way Officer;

 The membership of the GWCJAC will be reviewed once during each financial 
year to ensure there is a wide and balanced representation of canal interests;

 New members may be co-opted onto the GWCJAC with the agreement of the 
GWCJAC following a presentation to the Committee outlining the reasons 
why they should have representation;

 These Terms of Understanding will be reviewed by the GWCJAC following 
the agreement of the Chairman with recommendations for change being 
made to the funding partners;

 All organisations will have equal voting rights should the occasion dictate, 
with the Chairman having the casting vote;

 The GWCJAC will report to the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Communities who will be the County Council’s representative on the advisory 
committee.

Page 12



GRAND WESTERN CANAL JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

MEMBERSHIP

Group Represented Votes

Members

Devon County Council  - Executive Member for Environment and Communities 1

Devon County Council – Member for Tiverton East 1

Devon County Council – Member for Willand and Uffculme 1

Mid Devon District Council – Portfolio Holder for Environment 1

Mid Devon District Council – Members for Cranmore (3 councillors) 3

Mid Devon District Council – Member for Halberton 1

Mid Devon District Council – Members for Canonsleigh (2 councillors) 2

Tiverton Town Council 1

Halberton Parish Council 1

Sampford Peverell Parish Council 1

Burlescombe Parish Council 

(NB: There is currently a vacancy for a Burlescombe PC representative due to recent 
changes on the Parish Council. However, the Parish Council have requested that until 
the membership of Burlescombe Parish Council stabilises, Mr Adam Pilgrim 
represent them in addition to Holcombe Rogus Parish Council. The JAC are therefore 
asked to approve this temporary appointment).

1

Holcombe Rogus Parish Council 1

Friends of the Grand Western Canal 1

Devon Wildlife Trust 1

Wildlife Advisory Group 1

Inland Waterways Association 1

Tiverton and District Angling Club 1

Devon Bird Watching and Preservation Society 1

Tiverton Sea Cadets 1

A cycling organisation (to be confirmed at the October 2018 meeting) 1

The Tiverton Canal Company 1

Mid Devon Moorings 1

Canal Businesses Group 1

Community Patrol Boat 1

Officers

Devon County Council – Senior Public Rights of Way Officer (DCC) 0

Devon County Council – Canal Manager 0

Page 13



Mid Devon District Council – Director of Finance, Assets and Resources 0

Mid Devon District Council – Member Services Officer 0

Total 27

Each organisation may register a deputy to their representative, which must be 
approved by the GWJAC in advance.

The GWCJAC will be advised by the Senior Public Rights of Way Officer and Canal 
Manager and other officers as required.

We endorse the above Terms of Understanding for the GWCJAC and hereby agree 
to represent, to the best of our ability, the interests of the GWC.  We understand our 
role is to act as an ambassador for the GWCJAC and further its aim to conserve, for 
the future, the integrity of the Grand Western Canal in its setting as a wildlife, historic, 
recreation and education resource and to be supportive of sustainable economic 
activity and tourism in the area.

Organisation…………………………………………………………………………………………

Named 
representative………………………………………………………………………………………….

Position…………………………………………………………..

Date………………………………………………………………

Signature…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Contact Details

Address…………………………………………………………………………………………………
………...

Tel………………………………………………………………Fax……………………………………
………..

Email………………………………………………………….

Named 
Deputy…………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Date………………………………………………………….

Signature………………………………………………………………………………………………

Contact 
Details…………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Address…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Tel……………………………………………………………   
Fax………………………………………………

Email………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Page 14



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee
2nd October 2018

Progress Report (March 2018 – September 2018 inclusive)

1. Play Park opening

April saw the official opening of the new Canal Basin Play Park.   Chairman of Devon 
County Council, Cllr Ray Radford, performed the ceremony and there was a good turnout of 
local children eager to try out the new equipment.  Several members of the JAC and 
representatives of key funders, including former DCC councillor, Des Hannon (who 
provided much of the funding through his Locality and Investing in Devon budgets) also 
attended.

The play equipment company which supplied and 
installed the Play Park – Proludic Ltd – also sent a 
representative with goody bags for the children.

Since the opening the play park has been very busy and has led to a marked increase in 
visitor presence in the Canal Basin.  It’s great to see it being so well used and the feedback 
received has been excellent with no significant problems to date. 

2. Weed clearance

The Canal Ranger Team have spent on average 4 days per week operating the weed boat 
between Easter and the end of September.  The boat has been very reliable with only one 
week lost awaiting a replacement part.  As a result, the canal has been kept clear of 
excessive quantities of weed for almost all of the year and very few complaints have been 
received.  Work is continuing through until the end of September in order to remove as 
much Water Soldier as possible. 

It has been a few years since any control of Fringed Lily has been undertaken and so a 
contractor will be engaged to treat the small patches dotted along the canal between Swing 
Bridge and Boehill Bridge before they get any bigger. 

3. Green Flag Award

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



The Country Park has been awarded 
the prestigious Green Flag Award for 
the tenth consecutive year.  This year 
the Canal was fully judged with two 
judges spending the day (as opposed to 
the brief mystery shop visit undertaken 
by a judge last year), and the park 
achieved its highest ever score.  

The judges were really impressed with 
all the improvements made in the Canal 
Basin – including the wall realignment 
and new play area – and the successful 
use of the Country Park as a tourist 
destination as well as a facility for local 
people.  A big thank you to Philip Brind of the Tiverton Canal Co for spending time with 
judges on the day. 

The award is a testament to the hard work and dedication of the Canal Ranger Team, our 
volunteers, local businesses and all the other people that help to make the Canal such a 
great place to visit. 

4. Dogs on leads in the Canal Basin

A new rule requiring dogs to be kept on leads in the 
Canal Basin Picnic Area has been introduced.   

Following recent dog attacks and increasing problems 
with dog fouling, the Tiverton Canal Co and the local 
PCSOs have been calling for this change.  Given the 
evolving nature of the Canal Basin, with increasing 
levels of use, more children than ever before and more 
people picnicking on rugs on the grass, we agreed that 
it was a sensible move and after checking the legal 
situation with Devon County Council solicitors, 
proceeded with introducing the new rule.  

Smart new signs have been erected at the four access 
points to the Canal Basin Picnic Area welcoming well-
behaved dogs and explaining the rules. 

We have had a few dissenting voices through various 
online feedback and social media channels.  Many of 
these have mistakenly assumed that the rule applies to the whole canal, not just the Canal 
Basin. However, most people the Canal Ranger Team have spoken to are supportive and 
the Philip Brind believes the rule change has had a noticeable effect.  

5. Mowing and strimming

Page 16



From spring to autumn, the Canal Rangers and volunteers have undertaken all of the usual 
mowing and strimming of grass beside the towpath, around benches, picnic sites and car 
parks.  Although this regular Progress Report item never normally gets more than a 
sentence or two, it should be emphasised that this work forms by far the largest component 
of the Canal Ranger Service workload during this period, with one ranger and one or two 
volunteers spending 3-4 days per week on this task.  The work is key to the presentation 
and accessibility of the site and the Canal Ranger Service always strives to maintain high 
standards throughout the entire length of the Country Park.

6. Leaks

Perhaps as a result of the prolonged dry weather and the drying / cracking of surrounding 
soils, the Canal has suffered several leaks this year.  Leaks beside Minnows Touring Park 
and Tidcombe Bridge proved relatively straightforward to seal using the usual method of 
trenching beside the leak and backfilling 
with clay, but some others have been more 
complicated.  
 

 

A 
leak 
near 
Rock 

Bridge, which was discovered and sealed at the time of the Swing embankment breach had 
reopened.  In order to provide a more effective seal here, a 10m section of bank was dug 
back and rebuilt using 16 tonnes of clay before being covered over again with soil. 

Tidcombe leak

Minnows LeakRock leak

Page 17



A leak beside the aqueduct has led to a pool of water 
filling the cutting below the structure throughout the 
summer.  

After tracing a leak from the offside wall to the south of 
the aqueduct a trench was dug revealing leakage though 
an area of loose bricks.  The trench was backfilled with 
compacted clay and the leak on this side of the cutting stopped.  
However, a new leak has now emerged through a gap in pointing of an external wall on the 
towpath side.  It seems likely that there is a leak in the iron trough which forms the 
aqueduct and that the water is finding its way out through the surrounding wall wherever it 
finds least resistance.  DCC Bridges and structures engineers are due to undertake a 
principal inspection of the aqueduct at the end of September and their recommendations 
will be awaited, but it seems likely that some form of 
relining may be required. 

Most recently, a leak beside Swing Bridge has been 
traced and identified as a possible cause of water rising 
beside properties on High Street in Halberton.  Initial 
attempts to seal this leak were hampered by the 
presence of a large volume of concrete 30cm 
underneath, and across the full width, of the towpath at 
this location to a depth of around 1.2m.  The leak is 
now flowing underneath this concrete, which was 
presumably a previous attempt made decades ago to 
seal leakage through the wall.

Work is planned for the 24th September to dig a long, 
deep trench back-filled with clay in the bank parallel to 
the towpath in order to cut off any flow from the leak.  

With the exception of the leak near Rock Bridge, the 
volumes of water being lost from the canal were just a trickle and insignificant in terms of 
the Canal’s water budget.  However, they were / are all causing significant annoyance or 
potential damage for adjacent owners and so must be addressed.  In the case of the leak 
near Rock Bridge, the water was being lost to the ground with no evidence of it emerging 

Aqueduct leak

Swing leak

Aqueduct leak

Page 18



again, but the volume potentially being lost was such that it was important to make a good 
lasting repair at that location.

7. Boehill slipway track / boat trailer storage

The track that leads from the main road to Boehill Slipway has recently been tarmacked.  
The track was previously surfaced with road planings which were eroding at the edges and 
becoming quite uneven. The work has been funded by developer contributions from the 
Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension and is part of a wider scheme to improve pedestrian 
access between Sampford Peverell, Tiverton Parkway and the Canal.  

At the same time, a new boat trailer 
storage area is being created in the 
field halfway along the track.  Boat 
trailer storage was previously offered 
by Minnows Touring Park, but the new 
owners say their insurance does not 
cover it and so have withdrawn this 
service.  New provision has been 
agreed with the owner of the allotment 
field along the slipway track and work 
is currently being undertaken to widen 
the gateway and create an area of hard-standing.  These works will make it much more 
convenient for trailed boats to visit the canal. 

8. Greenway car park entrance

In recent years the entrance to Greenway car park has become eroded and pot holed, and 
following a report of damage to a car, contractors were engaged to provide a more 
permanent solution to the erosion issue that has been a problem here for decades.  
As a result, the entrance has been tarmacked.

9. Spot dredging near Burlescombe

Page 19



Halfway between Fossend Bridge and Fenacre Bridge there is a small feed into the canal 
from an adjacent stream.  Over recent years, a quantity of gravel has been washed into the 
canal at this point significantly reducing the depth of the channel.  In mid-September a JCB 
contractor was engaged to spot dredge the shallow area around the outlet pipe.  Several 
tipper van loads of dredged gravel were taken to the nearby depot beside Fenacre Bridge 
and boats should no longer have any problems passing this point.  

10.  Picnic benches at Sampford Peverell picnic site

The purchase of some new picnic 
benches for the Canal Basin freed up the 
three recycled plastic benches which 
were previously located there and these 
have now been re-located to Sampford 
Peverell picnic site.  The benches are 
fixed to the ground to prevent theft / 
interference and have been carefully 
positioned to blend in and to offer shade 
at different times of the day, and 
feedback suggests they are well-used. 

11.  Snakes Wood ecological survey

Snakes Wood is an area of ancient wet woodland which lies to the south of the Canal on 
the offside between Warnicombe Bridge and Manley Bridge.  It is a County Wildlife Site and 
ownership is mainly split between two adjacent landowners, but a portion near the Canal 
does form part of the Canal holding.  

The largest portion of the wood was recently sold and the new owner approached the Canal 
Manager for advice on management for conservation.  The Canal Manager contacted the 
Devon Biodiversity Records Centre and as the site had not been surveyed since 1993 it 
was agreed that a new survey should be conducted by a DBRC ecologist. The summary of 
the recent survey is as follows: 

“An excellent example of ancient wet woodland, a habitat becoming increasingly rare in 
Devon, and the U.K. in general, due to historical drainage and other practices. This site is 
highly species rich in vascular plants and bryophytes, as expected from such a humid 
woodland, with the Devon Notable species narrow buckler-fern (Dryopteris carthusiana) 
present. 19 Ancient Woodland Indicator species were found, a high number for such a 
relatively small woodland.” 

The new owner was advised against introducing any new drainage and to continue the 
current low intervention management. 

12.  New pay and display machines

Page 20



Two solar-powered Parkeon pay and display machines have been installed in the Canal 
Basin car park to replace the 20+ year old Cale Briparc machines which were there 
previously.  Parts for the Cale Briparc machines were becoming harder to source and fewer 
engineers had knowledge of how to fix these dated machines. 

The Parkeon machines had been recently taken in from on-street locations by DCC where 
they were no longer needed and have now been purchased for the Canal.  These machines 
send alerts to DCC parking officers when cash boxes are nearly full or when tickets are 
running out, so that they spend the minimum amount of time out of order. There is also the 
possibility of an upgrade which will allow customers to pay by telephone. 

13.  Horse enclosure

In mid-March, before the horse-drawn 
barge began its season, the Canal 
Ranger Service and the Tiverton 
Canal Co worked together to build a 
new horse enclosure in the Canal 
Basin.  Several posts and rails of the 
previous enclosure were rotting and 
so a new, more robust enclosure has 
been built in its place.  

14.  Spring Clean event

The Friends of the Grand Western 
Canal’s Volunteer Wardens and Tiverton 
Volunteer Litterpickers joined Canal 
Ranger Joanne Roberts in giving the 
Canal a tidy up at the end of March as 
part of a Keep Britain Tidy campaign.  
They collected 10 sacks of rubbish along 
the towpath and around car parks, much 
of which was recycled. 

 

15.  Management Plan

The Canal Manager has made significant progress drafting the new management plan this 
summer, as and when time has allowed.  Although it is still very much a work in progress, 
the current version as its stands will be placed on the Country Park website at 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/grandwesterncanal/management for the two weeks prior to the 
JAC meeting on Oct 2nd so that any JAC members interested to see the new format and 
progress to date can take a look.  Once drafted, the plan will be shared with all JAC 
members for comment.  

16.Towpath surfacing 

Page 21



The section of towpath between Crownhill Bridge and the aqueduct was narrow and uneven 
with an adverse camber slanting towards the canal in some areas.  Due to the narrowness 
and the height of the bank between 
the towpath and the hedge, 
maintenance access was difficult and 
made lots of mess in the winter 
months.  

This section was resurfaced in the 
Spring, using DCC cycling route 
capital funding.  The surface has 
gone down well, with minimal loose 
chippings and the edges have now 
re-vegetated blending the new 
surface in with its surroundings. 

17.  Tree work

Although the majority of planned and reactive tree work is undertaken during the autumn 
and winter, some works have been necessary during the spring and summer this year.  
Two large trees that fell into the canal – one near Waytown Limekilns, one near Lowdwells 
– have been winched out and dismantled. 

Dead wood has been removed throughout the crown of the large ash tree on the offside 
bank opposite The Globe Inn in Sampford Peverell.  Although it is possible that the dead 
wood is a result of Ash Dieback Disease, because of its prominent position in the village a 
decision has been taken to just make the tree safe for now rather than fell it, and to wait 
and see if it declines further before taking any further action. 

Two large ash trees beside the steps near Tidcombe Primary School are showing 
significant and rapid decline and are due to be felled this autumn.  

18.Bankside vegetation cutting

The usual summer bank cutting work between the Canal Basin and Crownhill Bridge was 
undertaken by a contractor using a tractor-mounted flail in early July.  The timing of this 
work is dictated by the weather and the growth rate with the Tiverton Canal Co informing 
the Canal Manager when the bankside vegetation reaches a height at which the horse 
begins to struggle to pull the rope through the plants. 

The Canal Ranger Service also used their small Kubota tractor and flail to side up bankside 
and hedge-side vegetation that is beginning to grow / fall across the towpath at that time of 
year.  

19.Proposed housing developments near the Canal

Page 22



The Canal Manager has been involved in a number of consultations and discussions 
relating to proposed housing development in the vicinity of the Canal.  With the proposal for 
60 houses beside Higher Town, Sampford Peverell the issue was drainage from the 
development to the Canal.  With another emerging proposal for significant housing 
development around Tidcombe Hall and Little Tidcombe, the issues have been drainage 
and safe access from the development to the towpath and the primary school (possibly via 
a new bridge). 

20.  Apprentice Ranger

DCC’s social care team have provided funding for a care leaver to work as an apprentice 
ranger at Stover Country Park and the Grand Western Canal Country Park over an 18-
month period starting in October.  After a competitive application and assessment process 
open to care leavers throughout the county, involving staff from both sites, a candidate 
(Rob) has been selected and has successfully completed a two-week work experience 
period prior to being offered the position.  

As well as undertaking practical work at both sites, Rob will receive training and will be 
studying for a countryside management qualification at a local college.  As Rob lives in 
Chudleigh, it is likely he will spend more time at Stover than the Canal, but he will be a 
welcome addition on the 1-2 days per week when he is with the Canal Rangers. 

21.Vandalism and fly-tipping at Manley Bridge cap park

Unfortunately, this car park has been the focus of fly-tipping and vandalism in recent 
months.  The noticeboard and dog bin beside the car park have been vandalised and a 
cycle route post has been broken. 

22.  Association of Inland Navigation Authorities (AINA) workshops

Devon County Council is a member of AINA with the Canal Manager acting as 
representative.  As well as the two regular meetings held in London each year, this year two 
workshops have been provided for members on specific issues.  

The first, held in Birmingham in February, related to new legislation concerning water 
abstraction and highlighted the requirements and processes that navigation authorities 
need to adhere to ensure their abstractions are properly licenced.  On the Grand Western 
Canal there are two small (but in time of drought, important) abstractions which will require 
licence applications located near Lowdwells and Canonsleigh Inlet.  The Canal Manager is 
currently awaiting a quote for the construction of some new headwalls to surround the pipes 
in the streams that the water is abstracted from, to bring them up to a standard and provide 
a level of control likely to be acceptable to the Environment Agency.  

The second, to be held in London on 27th September, relates to proposed changes to the 
Boat Safety Scheme. DCC operates the Boat Safety Scheme on the Grand Western Canal 
and being a Boat Safety Scheme surveyor, Adam Pilgrim has been asked and has kindly 

Page 23



agreed to provide any advice he has on the changes to the Canal Manager ahead of the 
meeting. 

23.  JAC site visit

The annual site visit took place on 5th 
June and began with a tour around the 
Canal Basin to look at the wall-moving 
project, the new play area, new flower 
bed and various other recent 
improvements.  

The group then headed to Crownhill 
where they were given a tour of the 
new Anaerobic Digester.  The visit 
concluded with a walk along the 
towpath to look at some of the work being undertaken to thicken the hedgerow and screen 
views of the AD plant from the towpath. 

24.  Landing stages

Preparatory work to remove reed growth has been undertaken ahead of the installation of a 
new landing stage near Ebear Bridge. The timber has been ordered and installation will be 
undertaken in the autumn.  This landing stage will have a low-level area at one end suitable 
for canoes and kayaks to launch.  Low-level extensions will also be added to the landing 
stages at The Globe Inn and Minnows Touring Park to enable kayakers and canoeists to 
launch and recover their boats more easily at these locations. 

25.Benches

The new memorial seats have proved popular despite the higher cost, with five seats 
having been installed near the following locations:

 Canal Basin
 Greenway picnic site
 The bend between Manley and East Manley Bridges
 Fossend Bridge
 Chains Road, Sampford Peverell
 Warnicombe Bridge

A further two have recently been delivered and are awaiting installation and another is on 
order.  Also, two of the oak memorial benches have been installed near Wilcombe Primary 
School and in the Chains Road to Battens Bridge section near Sampford Peverell.  

26.  Volunteers – 192 volunteer days completed

Page 24



Long term volunteers Lee and ‘Little Craig’ continue to assist the rangers on a regular basis 
although Lee is now able to offer less hours as he has a job.  

27.  Work Experience - 11 students

 Ollie - Petroc (1 day) 
 Lysander - Brymore Academy, Bridgwater (1 week) 
 Emma - Exeter College (6 days) 
 Fion - Bristol Degree (1 week) 
 Jack - Tiverton High School (1 week) 
 George, Ed, Nathan and Finlay - Blundells Duke of Edinburgh (2 days each)
 Rob - Apprentice (4 days) 

28.  Walk and talks – 95 walkers

28/3/18 - Sampford Peverell - 25 participants
23/5/18 - Swans Neck - 23 participants
18/7/18 - Sampford Peverell - 29 participants
12/9/18 - Holcombe Rogus -18 participants

29.  Ranger-led visits by schools and community groups – 341 children / students

16/3/18 - 12 students - Bicton College- Tree Planting 
21/3/18 - 8 students – Petroc College - Tree Planting 
24/4/18 & 1/5/18 - 28 & 21 pre-school children - Kingswood Childcare – Pond-dipping
2/5/18 – 50 pupils - Castle Primary School - Pond dipping
24/5/18 - 42 pupils - Heathcoat Primary School – Pond-dipping
12/6/18 – 29 pupils - Bolham Primary School – Transport / Canal History
13/6/18 – 17 Rainbows -  Pond-dipping
14/6/18 – 81 pupils - Castle Primary School - Pond-dipping / Minibeasts 
26/6/18 – 20 Brownies – Pond-dipping
28/6/18 – 16 Guides / Rainbows – Pond-dipping
28/9/18 - 17 Beavers – Pond-dipping

30.  Events – 176 participants (for booked events)

11/3/18 - Volunteer Day - 8 volunteers 
24/3/18 - Spring Clean Up - 17 volunteers 
4/4/18 - Spring Adventure Day - 30 children 
11/4/18 - Play area opening – well attended
11/5/18 - Bat walk – 10 participants
14/5/18 - Devon Recovery Learning Community Bat walk - 7 participants 
10/6/18 - Lost Words' Pond dipping - 16 children 
9/7/18 – Devon Recovery Learning College walk - 5 participants
14/7/18 - Fun on the water day – well attended
1/8/18 - Wild Wednesday Pond dipping - 29 children 

Page 25



8/8/18 -  Wild Wednesday Bees & butterflies - 13 children 
15/8/18 - Wild Wednesday Dragonfly & Damselflies - 5 children 
22/8/18 - Wild Wednesday Birds - 21 children 
29/8/18 - Wild Wednesday Insect Houses - 7 children 
7/9/18 - Bat walk – 8 participants

31.  Talks to groups given by the Canal Manager

19/4/18 – Gin & Jam WI
2/5/18 – Budleigh Salterton Ladies Probus

Future programme of practical works

 Install new landing stage and extensions
 Install memorial seats and benches
 Repair / replace signs and posts at bridges and car parks as necessary
 Undertake usual trimming back of overhanging branches throughout the length of the 

canal
 Undertake more intensive thinning, formative pruning and coppicing of trees in the 

section between Sellake Bridge and Sampford Peverell
 Plant daffodil bulbs in the new flower bed at the entrance to the car park
 Hedge-laying at various locations
 Concreting towpath under bridges with persistent puddle problems
 Annual bank and hedge trimming works

Management projects to be progressed

 Complete drafting of new management plan
 Complete review of boating regulations and permitting
 Resolve leakage issues at Swing Bridge
 Seek to progress piling or lining works to stop leakage near Westcott Bridge
 Organise agreements for residents parking at Sampford Peverell wharf
 Organise installation of new interpretation panels in Canal Basin
 Ongoing discussions regarding Fenacre water transfer system
 Apply for two Abstraction Licences from the Environment Agency
 Ongoing activities relating to Fenacre Water overtopping into the Canal
 Ongoing work to mitigate impact of badgers at Wilcombe embankment
 Organise annual update and reprint of Canal Visitor Guide
 Ongoing liaison with consultants, planners and colleagues relating to proposed 

housing development near the Canal

Page 26


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	9 Terms of Reference / Membership Review
	10 Progress report

